NO. 2010-KA-00243-COA

In the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi

JASON BENARD FOXWORTH,

Appellant,

versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee,

A Direct Criminal Appeal From the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District,

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

"ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED"

Keith Pisarich, Esquire, MSB Attorney for Appellant Foxworth 175-A Lameuse Street
P. O. Box 936
Biloxi, MS 39533
Tel. # (228) 374-4391
Fax.# (228) 374-4399
pisarichkeith@bellsouth.net

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2010-KA-000243-COA

JASON BENARD FOXWORTH

APPELLANT

versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the state's prosecutor committed reversal error informing the jury, over defense objection, during his opening statement that state's witness Steven

Lamar Fairley, a co-defendant and co-indictee of Foxworth in this case, had been charged with this crime, and who had pled to an armed robbery charge, and was serving a sentence in the penitentiary.

Whether the trial judge erred in overruling the defense's contemporaneous and renewed objections and motions for a mistrial.

Whether the state's prosecutor further compounded this error in the second or final part of the state's closing argument in referring to state's witness Steven Lamar Fairley, as saying the witness says he's "guilty" on the witness stand.

Whether the state's prosecutor's comments and remarks regarding co-defendant and co-indictee Steven Lamar Fairley were violative of this state's longstanding and general rule "that where two or more persons are jointly indicted for the same offense, but are separately tried, a judgment of conviction or a plea of guilty against one of them is not competent evidence on the trial of the other because such plea of guilty or conviction is no evidence of the guilt of the party being tried". *Pickens v. State*, 91 So. 906 (Miss. 1920); *Randall v. State*, 806 So.2d 185 (Miss. 2001).

2. Whether the trial judge committed reversal error in failing to grant Foxworth a continuance of the trial date upon the Foxworth's trial counsel's first or second motion

for a continuance of the trial date.

Whether the trial judge followed the proper procedure and criteria announced in *Box* in assessing the Foxworth's need and right to a continuance of the trial date.

Box v. State, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss. 1983).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a direct criminal appeal of a capital murder case and conviction of Jason Benard Foxworth from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, Biloxi, MS. (R.E. pp. 12-13)(Rec. pp. 150-151). Your appellant Jason Benard Foxworth (hereinafter "Foxworth") along with Mark Kee Brown (hereinafter "Brown") and Steven Lamar Fairley (hereinafter "Fairley") were indicted for the capital murder of Larry Darnell Turner (hereinafter "Turner"), by the 2006 February Term of the Harrison County Grand Jury, Second Judicial District, in an indictment filed on May 8, 2006, being Cause No. B2402-2006-00167 in the circuit court below. (R.E. pg. 20) (T.R. pp. 14).

The indictment did specifically allege that on or about July 6,2005, Foxworth,
Brown, and Fairley did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and with or without design to
effect death, kill and murder Turner, a human being, while in the commission of the
crime and felony of Robbery, to-wit: Robbery, as defined by Section 97-3-73 of the
Mississippi Code of 1972, contrary to and in violation of Section 97-3-19(2)(e),
Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and against the peace and dignity of the State of

Mississippi. (R.E. pg. 20)(T.R. pg. 14).

Prior to Foxworth's trial, co-defendant and co-defendant Fairley entered a plea of guilty to the reduced charge of armed robbery and received a sentence of 20 years from the same judge that was Foxworth's trial judge. (T.T. Vol. I, pp. 40, 46,47).

Foxworth proceeded to trial and was found guilty of capital murder. (R.E. pp. 12-13)(T.R. Vol. 1, pg. 150 & Vol. II pg. 151). At the end of the sentencing phase, the jury returned a verdict sentencing Foxworth to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. (R.E. pp. 14,15,16-19)(T.R. Vol. I, pg. 150 & Vol. II, pg. 151)(T.T. Vol. VI. pp. 779-782).

In a later and separate trial, Brown was also convicted of capital murder and received a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Foxworth believes that Brown's conviction and sentence is presently on appeal to this Court or will be on appeal shortly.

Foxworth, feeling aggrieved by several events and rulings occurring during his trial, prosecutes this appeal seeking reversal of his conviction and sentence in the trial court below. (R.E. pp. 37-38)(T.R. Vol. II, pp. 189-190).

Foxworth has been continuously incarcerated on this capital murder charge since the date of his arrest in July of 2005. Foxworth remains incarcerated and is presently in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about July 6, 2005, Tavares Turner (hereinafter "Tavares", not Turner, so as not to be confused with Larry Darnell Turner, the victim and decedent in this case, who will be referred to as "Turner"), his uncle Larry Darnell Turner ("Turner", the decedent herein), cousin Lenny Jackson (hereinafter "Jackson"), and roommate Michael Williams (hereinafter "Williams") all lived at 366 Barkwood Circle, in D'Iberville, Mississippi. (T.T. Vol III, pg. 387) This residence is sometimes referred to as the Turner residence.

The prosecution presented Tavares and Fairley as fact or occurrence witnesses at the trial. These two state witnesses gave the following accounts of what transpired on July 6, 2005, at the Turner residence.

A short while before July 6, 2005, Tavares began holding a large sum of cash money (approximately \$10,000.00) which belonged to his roommate Williams. (T.T. Vol. III, pg. 394). Williams had received this money as a result of a pension payment. (T.T. Vol. III, pg. 394). Sometimes, Tavares would carry a large portion of this money on his person and showed it to some people. Tavares showed some of this cash money to Fairley, who had been a co-worker of Tavares for about a year, both working for the City of Gulfport. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 556-558).

Fairley knew Foxworth and told him about Tavares having this large sum of cash money. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 559). According to Fairley, Foxworth pressured him to show him where Tavares lived so Foxworth could rob Tavares of this cash money. (T.T. Vol.

IV, pp. 558)(T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 570). Prior to July 6, 2005, Fairley knew where Tavares lived, he had been over to Tavares's residence once before. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 557,563).

On July 6, 2005, Fairley called Tavares to let Tavares know that he was coming over. (TT. Vol. III, pp. 387)(T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 560-1). A few minutes later, Fairley called again and talked with Jackson. A few minutes later, Fairley arrived at the Turner residence around 5:00 p.m. and Jackson let him in. (TT. Vol. III, pp. 388). Fairley went in and sat down with the two others, Tavares and Jackson. They talked and watched television. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 562). At this time, Turner was in his back bedroom asleep. Roommate Williams was not at home.

Following Fairley in another vehicle was Foxworth, Brown, and another person, according to Fairley. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 561-2). Approximately 5-10 minutes later, Foxworth, Brown, both armed with pistols, and this other person came in the front door. They forced everyone to the floor and demanded the money. According to Fairley, there was another unidentified person with Foxworth and Brown. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 564). Later, they went to the back bedroom and brought Turner to the front and forced him to lie on the floor. (T.T. Vol. III, pp. 389)(T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 564). They continued to demand the money. Tavares had some of the money in a sock in his pocket and the remaining money was in a safe in the house. They got the money from Tavares and then tied him up. (T.T. Vol. III, pg. 397). Tavares told them where the safe was and they got the money out of the safe. (T.T. Vol. III, pg. 405).

Then one gunshot rang out. After the gunshot, one of them made a comment like

now, you know, we're not playing with you. (T.T. Vol. III, pg. 398, 405)(T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 567). According to Fairley, Brown as the closest to Turner when he heard the gunshot and Brown was the one that made the comment. (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 567).

Dr. Paul McGarry testified that Turner was fatally shot with a single gunshot wound to the back area of his neck. (T.T. Vol. V, pg. 605).

Shortly thereafter, Foxworth and Brown ran from the residence. Upon leaving the residence, one of them told Fairley to get his license, ID, or cell phone and leave. (T.T. Vol. III, pp. 389). Fairley followed behind them. (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 567).

The law enforcement authorities were called and responded in a matter of minutes. (T.T. Vol. III, pg.406).

A short time later, approximately 1 to 2 hours later after the shooting, Fairley returned to the Turner residence and turned himself in to authorities. (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 569). Fairley bonded out of jail the next day.

Fairley gave a statement to authorities implicating Foxworth, Brown and another unidentified person as the people that were involved in the robbery and murder. (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 569). Fairley testified at trial and implicated Foxworth. (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 564).

In a photo lineup on the evening of July 6, 2007, Tavares only identified Foxworth to the extent that Foxworth looked like one of the two men. (T.T. Vol. III, pp. 445-447).

Thereafter, Foxworth and Brown were arrested, charged and later indicted along with Fairley for the capital murder of Larry Darnell Turner.

In a separate trial, Foxworth went to trial on November 13, 2007, in Harrison County Circuit, Second Judicial District, in Biloxi.

Even though on the evening of July 6, 2005, Tavares only identified Foxworth to the extent that Foxworth looked like one of the men, at Foxworth's trial during the week of November 13, 2007, Tavares gave an in-court positive identification of Foxworth.

(T.T. Vol. III, pp. 445-447)(T.T. Vol. III, pg. 411).

Fairley testified for the state implicating Foxworth and Brown as the two men that were involved in the robbery and murder.

State's witness Nancy Kurowski, an evidence technician with the Harrison County Sheriff's Department, testified that there was no physical evidence such as fingerprints, trace evidence, etc., which would link Foxworth or any other person to the murder of Turner. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 532-536).

In the guilt phase, the defense presented Jackson as a fact or occurrence witness. Jackson testified that he could not make any identification following the incident. (T.T. Vol. V, pp. 621). Jackson also testified that he could not make any identification of Foxworth at trial. (T.T. Vol. V, pp. 616-621).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. Foxworth asserts that the state's prosecutor committed reversal error informing the jury, over defense objection, during his opening statement that state's witness Steven Lamar Fairley, a co-defendant and co-indictee in this case, had been charged with this crime, and who had pled to an armed robbery charge, and was serving a sentence in the penitentiary. The trial judge erred in overruling the contemporaneous defense objections and defense motions for a mistrial. The state's prosecutor further compounded this error in the second or final part of the state's closing argument in referring to state's witness Steven Lamar Fairley, as the witness saying he's "guilty". The state's prosecutor's comments and remarks regarding co-defendant and co-indictee Steven Lamar Fairley were violative of this state's longstanding and general rule that where two or more persons are jointly indicted for the same offense, but are separately tried, a judgment of conviction or a plea of guilty against one of them is not competent evidence on the trial of the other because such plea of guilty or conviction is no evidence of the guilt of the party being tried, which warrants and mandates the reversal of Foxworth's conviction of capital murder and the remanding of Foxworth's case for a new trial.
- 2. The trial judge committed reversal error in failing to grant Foxworth a continuance of the trial date upon the Foxworth's trial counsel's first or second motion for a continuance of the trial date and that the trial judge did not follow the proper procedure and criteria set forth in *Box* in assessing the propriety of granting Foxworth's

motion for a continuance of the trial date. The trial judge's error in not granting

Foxworth a reasonable continuance of the trial warrants and mandates in and of itself a

reversal of Foxworth's conviction of capital murder and a remanding of Foxworth case

for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

1. That the state's prosecutor made prejudicial remarks in his opening statement to the jury when he told the jury that co-defendant and co-indictee Steven Lamar Fairley was charged with this crime and had pled to an armed robbery charge and that he was serving a sentence in the penitentiary for his action.

In his opening statement to the jury, the state's prosecutor, made the following remark to the jury:

"Ladies and gentlemen, we'll also have testimony in this case that Mr. Fairley was charged with this crime, I want to tell you up front, and he pled to armed robbery charge". (T.T., Vol. III, pg. 369)(R.E. pg. 39).

The defense made a contemporaneous objection, which was overruled by the trial judge. Thereafter, the defense made a contemporaneous motion for a mistrial, which was also overruled by the trial judge. (T.T., Vol. III, pg. 369-370)(R.E. pp. 39-40).

On the following morning of the trial, defense counsel provided the trial judge with authorities and case law to substantiate the defense's objection and motion for a mistrial. (T.T. Vol, pp. 496-520)(R.E. pp. 41-65). During this lengthy colloquy with the

trial judge, defense trial counsels had provided the following Mississippi cases: *Pickens v. State*, 91 So. 906 (Miss. 1990); *McCray v. State*, 293 So.2d 807 (Miss. 1974); *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292 (Miss. 1974) and *Henderson v. State*, 403 So.2d 139 (Miss. 1981) and *Randall v. State*, 806 So.2d 185 (Miss. 2001). (T.T. pp. 497-498)(R.E. pp. 42-43). These Mississippi cases along with others will be discussed in detail below.

At the beginning of this hearing outside of the presence of the jury, Foxworth's trial counsel again renewed his objections and motion for a mistrial, which were again overruled by the trial judge. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 497, 517). The trial judge commented that if it was error, it was harmless error. (T.T. Vol. IV, pp. 518).

At the end of the discussion of the present defense objections and motions for a mistrial, the trial judge stated:

"All right. It is a very close question based on the cases that I have read, but I think taken in the totality of the circumstances and the evidence that is going to be presented in the state's case in chief, that hopefully it is harmless error. All right. Bring the jury in, please." (T.T. Vol. IV, pg. 520)(R.E. pg. 65).

By not changing his ruling on the defense objection, the trial judge failed to give admonition to the jury to disregard the state's prosecutor's remarks about Fairley's plea and sentence.

By at least not sustaining the defense objection, Foxworth's defense counsel where not required to seek a request for an admonition from the trial judge. If the trial judge still thought that the defense was still mistaken in its objection and still overruled it at this point, there was no legal basis for defense counsel to ask for an admonition to

the jury or cautionary instruction to the jury from the trial judge.

The state's prosecutor added further prejudice by making a comment in his closing remarks to the jury that Fairley testified "I'm guilty" on the witness stand. The defense made a contemporaneous objection and motion for a mistrial. The trial judge sustained the defense's objection this time but overruled the defense motion for a mistrial. (T.T. pg. 672)(R.E. pg. 66). Regardless of the judge's ruling, more damage and prejudice were done to Foxworth. It is totally inconsistent for the trial judge to sustain this defense objection but not to have sustained the earlier defense objection following the state's prosecutor's comments as to Fairley's plea and sentence.

In the present case, Foxworth, Brown, and Fairley were jointly indicted. (T.R. Vol. I, pg. 14)(R.E. pg. 20). Before Foxworth's trial, Fairley had pleaded guilty to the reduced charge of armed robbery. He received a 25 year sentence. The armed robbery in question being the underlying predicate armed robbery felony charge to this capital murder charge in this case. The jury would have been put on notice of this even more by the State's prosecutor informing them that he (Fairley) "was charged with this crime". See supra.

As early as 1920, in *Pickens v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court approved the general rule announced in 16 C.J. 670: "Where two persons have been jointly indicted for the same offense, but are separately tried, a judgment of conviction against one of them is not competent on the trial of the other inasmuch as his conviction is no evidence either of joint action or of the guilt of the accused. 91 So. 906 (Miss. 1920). The

Court added, "It seems needless for us to say that the court committed grave and fatal error in permitting this testimony to be introduced by the state. The plea of guilty of Buck Kennard, and the conviction of Gerrard White, and his confession implicating appellant, were all incompetent to establish the guilt of appellant, and especially so since the confession was made after the commission of the crime, and not in the presence of appellant. *Pickens v. State*, 91 So. 906 (Miss. 1920).

In *Pieper v. State*, the State offered Rucker, a co-indictee, as a witness against the accused Pieper. After pleading surprise and being allowed to cross-examine him, the district attorney brought out that Rucker had entered a plea of guilty to the crime.

Pieper v. State, 134 So.2d 157 (Miss. 1961). In *Pieper*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that where two or more persons were jointly indicted for the same offense, but separately tried, judgment of conviction against one of them was not competent on the trial of the other, since his plea of guilty was not evidence of the guilt of the accused.

Pieper v. State, 134 So.2d 157 (Miss. 1961).

In *Buckley v. State*, Travis Buckley and Billy Roy Pitts were jointly indicted for kidnaping. *Buckley v. State*, 223 So.2d 524 (Miss. 1969). Buckley was granted a severance. Testimony was presented to the jury in Buckley's trial that Pitts, the coindictee, pled guilty, and that as a result of his plea of guilty he had been sentenced to serve a term of five years in the state penitentiary. Buckley had made an objection to this testimony. Again, the Mississippi Supreme Court cited the well settled law in this state that where two or more persons were jointly indicted for the same offense, but

separately tried, judgment of conviction against one of them was not competent on the trial of the other, since his plea of guilty was not evidence of the guilt of the accused. Buckley v. State, 223 So.2d 524, 528 (Miss. 1969). Citing State v. Thornhill, 171 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1965); Pieper v. State, 134 So.2d 157 (Miss. 1961); and Pickens v. State, 91 So. 906 (Miss. 1922).

In *Buckley*, the Court went on to note "Not only was this testimony designed to lead the jury to believe that since Pitts had plead guilty to the charge, that his coindictee, Buckley, was also guilty, but it was also designed to bolster the testimony of Pitts. *Buckley v. State*, 223 So.2d 524, 528 (Miss. 1969).

In *Ivy v. State*, Mike Ivy and Clinton Smith were jointly indicted for the sale of a controlled substance. *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292 (Miss. 1974). The cases were severed. The pertinent portions of Smith's testimony was claimed by Ivy to be prejudicial:

BY MR. LOCKARD: (Continuing)

Q. Now, Mr. Smith, I believe you were jointly indictee in this matter, were you not?

A. Yes, sir, I was.

Q. And you have been convicted-

BY MR. WRIGHT: If the Court please, we now object and move for a mistrial.

BY THE COURT: Objection will be overruled.

BY MR. LOCKARD: (Continuing)

Q. Mr. Smith, you have been sentenced, have you not?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

BY MR. WRIGHT: We renew our objection and make the same objection. *-Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292, 293 (Miss. 1974).

The Court went on to state that "the jury thus had before it evidence of the coindictee's conviction and sentence from which it could likely conclude that Ivy was
guilty because his associate and co-indictee was convicted and sentenced, or more
modernly put, the jury could find he was guilty by association." *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d
292, 293 (Miss. 1974).

The Court further stated, "We have consistently held evidence of this nature to be inimical to a fair trial." *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292, 293 (Miss. 1974).

The Court noted that the rule in this state is in accord with those of many other states. Citing 48 A.L.R.2d 1016 (1956). The Court reversed Ivy's conviction and remanded for a new trial. *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292, at 293 (Miss. 1974).

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