IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JASON BENARD FOXORTH

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2010-KA-0243-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State did not refer to Fairley's guilty plea during opening statements to suggest that the plea was substantive evidence of Foxworth's guilt. Instead, it was clear from the beginning that Fairley's credibility would be attacked, and the State sought merely to soften the blow of the impending attack on Fairley's credibility by being the first to admit to the jury that Fairley participated in the armed robbery which resulted in Larry Turner's death. Mississippi case law provides that it is permissible to use evidence of a co-indictee's guilty plea where it is obvious that the co-indictee/witness's credibility will be attacked.

Foxworth fails to show that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a mistrial. Although he claims that he was entitled to a continuance based on late discovery, the truth of the matter is that most of the evidence he claims he received on the day of trial had been provided in different forms long before trial. Foxworth fails to even articulate any resulting prejudice in his appellate brief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE DID NOT USE EVIDENCE OF A CO-INDICTEE'S GUILTY PLEA TO PROVE FOXWORTH'S GUILT. RATHER, THE STATE SOUGHT TO PREEMPTIVELY USE EVIDENCE OF THE CO-INDICTEE/WITNESS'S GUILTY PLEA AS A PRIOR STATEMENT CONSISTENT WITH HIS TRIAL TESTIMONY, AS IT WAS OBVIOUS THAT HIS CREDIBILITY WOULD BE THOROUGHLY ATTACKED ON CROSS-EXAMINATION.

In summarizing the evidence the State intended to present at trial, the prosecutor made the following comment. "Ladies and gentlemen, we'll also have testimony in this case that Mr. Fairley was charged with this crime, I want to tell you this up front, and he pled to an armed robbery charge." T. 369. After defense counsel's motion for mistrial was overruled, the State resumed its opening with the following sentence, "He's currently serving a sentence in the penitentiary for his action." T. 370. Right out of the box, after a formal introduction, defense counsel opened with the following.

The defense contends that the proof in this case will show the following: That the prosecution's case against Jason Foxworth rests squarely on the credibility and believability of Steven Fairley, and we expect the proof to show that the testimony of Steven Fairley would not and will not be legally sufficient to base any finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as to Jason Foxworth. The proof will show that Steven Fairley has improper reasons and improper motives in trying to implicate Jason Fairley in the death of Larry Turner.

The proof will show that Steven Fairley is biased and that he has a bias in naming Jason Foxworth as a participant in the death of Larry Turner. The proof is going to further show that the testimony of Steven Fairley as to how the entire incident leading up to the death of Larry Turner was planned and carried out is wholly uncorroborated.

Further, the proof will show that this trial is the first time that Steven Fairley's story will be cross-examined by a defense lawyer or anyone else for that matter to reveal the true inconsistencies, the contradictions in that story, as well as Fairley's improper bias and motives in trying to implicate Jason Fairley in the death of Larry Turner.

T. 377-78.

On the second morning of trial, and prior to the State calling Fairley to testify, defense counsel renewed his motion for mistrial. T. 496. Defense counsel presented the trial court with six cases which defense counsel believed stood for the proposition that the State cannot be the first party to bring forth evidence of a co-indictee's conviction of the same crime for which the defendant stands trial. T. 498-99. The State responded that any reference to Fairley's guilty plea was not used as evidence of Foxworth's guilt. T. 509. The State further responded that even if it were error to reference Fairley's guilty plea, that such error should be deemed harmless at best since Fairley would testify at trial and would be subject to cross-examination. T. 509. Upon questioning by the trial court, defense counsel agreed that the State was permitted to call Fairley as a witness and that Fairley could testify as to his role in the robbery and implicate Foxworth. T. 512-13. However, defense counsel opined that Fairley should not be permitted to testify on direct examination that he pleaded guilt to the same. T. 513. The trial court recognized that the cases submitted by defense counsel prohibit the State from first putting on evidence that a co-defendant has previously been convicted for the same offense for which the defendant is being tried because "it impermissibly suggests to the trier of fact that ... their judgment may be pitted against the judgement of a jury with respect to the actions of the co-defendant." T. 514. However, the trial court recognized that in the present situation, the prosecutor's statement in opening related to the obvious impending impeachment Fairley would face on cross-examination. T. 514-17. The trial court ultimately overruled the motion for mistrial, and ruled that the State could examine Fairley as to his participation in the robbery, but could not bring out on direct examination that he was a co-indictee or that he had entered a guilty plea. T. 517.¹

¹Although this had been mentioned in opening statements, the trial court noted that attorney's statements are not evidence. T. 515. The jury was also instructed that attorneys statements and

In his first assignment of error, Foxworth takes the Court on a tour of cases which stands for the proposition that "where two or more persons are jointly indicted for the same offense but are separately tried, a judgment of conviction against one of them is not competent evidence on the trial of the other because such plea of guilty or conviction is no evidence of the guilt of the party being tried." McCray v. State, 293 So.2d 807, 808 (Miss. 1974) (citing State v. Thornhill, 171 So.2d 308 (1965); Pieper v. State, 134 So.2d 157 (1961); Pickens v. State, 91 So. 906 (1922)). The court's concern in these pre-rules cases is, as noted by the trial court in the present case, that evidence of a co-indictee's guilty plea or conviction places the jury "in the untenable position [of] pitting its prospective verdict against a guilty verdict previously entered by another jury carrying with it the court's approval by way of the judgment and sentence." Id. at 809. In the present case, the State mentioned that Fairley pleaded guilty to armed robbery, not to suggest Foxworth's guilt, but rather to soften the blow of the impeachment Fairley would obviously face on cross-examination. Defense counsel's opening statement centered almost entirely around a claim that Fairley was not a credible witness and that the State's case "rests squarely on the credibility and believability of Steven Fairley." T. 377.

The cases of *Clemons v. State*, 732 So.2d 883 (Miss. 1999), and *White v. State*, 616 So.2d 304 (Miss. 1993) are instructive. In Clemons' murder trial, the State called Timothy Sudberry, who had been involved in the murders for which Clemons stood trial. *Id.* at 885 (¶3). The State elicited on direct examination that Sudberry had pleaded guilty to accessory after the fact for his participation in the murders. *Id.* at 890 (¶27). The Mississippi Supreme Court distinguished the situation in *Clemons* from the prohibition against putting on evidence that a co-indictee has been previously tried

arguments are not evidence. C.P. 100.

and convicted of the same crime for which the defendant is being tried. Id. at ($\P 29$).

The danger at issue in that case is that one jury would rely upon the judgment of a prior jury in reaching its decision. The present case is distinguishable, however, because the case sub judice deals with a plea of guilty; that is, a prior admission of guilt, which is consistent with the testimony at trial. This is a significant distinction because prior statements have evidentiary value different from prior findings of other tribunals.

Moreover, whether an error in admitting this evidence is sufficiently prejudicial to warrant reversal may be resolved differently where the offending evidence is no more than a repetition of what is said by the witness before a jury and subject to cross examination, as opposed to evidence of the collective judgment of another jury. Thus, it must be determined whether the admission of the testimony in question was error. It is essentially an evidentiary issue.

Id. at (¶29-30). The Court went on to find that evidence of Sudberry's guilty plea was admissible

under MRE 801(d)(1) as being a prior statement consistent with his trial testimony. Id. at 891 (¶31).

However, the court found that the evidence of the guilty plea should not have been received until

after the witness's credibility had been attacked on cross-examination. Id. Nevertheless, the error

in the early admission of the evidence was deemed harmless due to the following.

It was clear from the beginning that Sudberry's credibility was central to this case. His credibility was vigorously attacked on cross-examination. Prior inconsistent statements from Sudberry were elicited, admitted and explained. Moreover, on cross-examination Sudberry was questioned extensively about the nature of any sentencing arrangement he was receiving from the State. It is hard to believe that, but for the introduction of the guilty plea, this attack on Sudberry would not have been made. He was the primary witness against Clemons. Finally, without his testimony about any previous guilty plea, Sudberry made a detailed, in-court confession of his guilt. He clearly established the fact that he was guilty of the crime of accessory after the fact. Sudberry admitted that he was present in the car at the time of the incident, and after the murders it was he that hid the murder weapon. Moreover, he was subjected to a searching cross-examination by defense counsel. When Sudberry went one step further on direct examination and testified that he had previously pleaded guilty to the same crime, he added nothing to his otherwise competent testimony. Under these circumstances, the premature references and testimony cannot be deemed error sufficient to warrant reversal.

Id. at (¶33).

Similarly in the present case, the mention of Fairley's guilty plea in no way put the jury in the position of pitting its prospective verdict against the verdict of another jury. As with Sudberry's testimony in *Clemons*, it was clear from the beginning, as evidence by defense counsel's opening statement, that Fairley's credibility was central to the case. Prior inconsistent statements from Fairley were elicited, admitted, and explained. T. 572-76, 580-81. Fairley also confessed his guilt on the witness stand. T. 560, 569. Finally, Fairley too was subject to a searching cross-examination. Under the authority of *Clemons*, the trial court did not err in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the prosecutor's brief mention in opening statements that Fairley pleaded guilty to armed robbery.

An examination of White v. State leads to the same conclusion. In White, White's coindictees testified for the State, and the prosecution was the first to reveal that the witnesses had pleaded guilty to the burglary for which White stood trial. 616 So. 2d 304, 305 (Miss. 1993). White relied on many of the same cases Foxworth relies on in his appellate brief in arguing that it was reversible error to allow the State to put on evidence that the co-indictees had pleaded guilty to the same crime for which White stood trial. Id. at 307. The Mississippi Supreme Court noted that where a co-indictee testifies at trial, putting on evidence of his prior guilty plea does not present the danger of the current jury relying on the judgement of another jury in reaching its verdict. Id. Rather, where the co-indictee admits his guilt on the witness stand, evidence of his prior guilty plea is simply a prior consistent statement which is admissible under our rules of evidence. Id. Like the *Clemons* court, the *White* court stated that the prosecution should have waited to put on evidence of the prior consistent statement, the guilty plea, until the co-indictee's credibility was attacked by defense counsel. Id. at 308. However, the court found that the preemptive strike was not reversible because, like in Clemons and the present case, the co-indictee's credibility was central to the State's case against White, the co-indictee's credibility was "vigorously attacked" on cross-examination, and

the co-indictee was forced to explain prior inconsistent statements on cross-examination. *Id.* All of the same is true in the present case.

Under the authority of Clemons and White, it is clear that the State's brief reference to the fact that Fairley pleaded guilty to armed robbery was not reversible error. Perhaps a better course of action would have been to wait until after defense counsel attacked Fairley's credibility. As stated by the court in *White*, "It would strain credulity to suggest that, but for the introduction of the guilty plea, this attack on [the co-indictee] would not have been made." *Id.* It should be noted that in *Clemons* and *White*, it was not reversible error for the State to go into detail on the co-indictees' direct examinations regarding the details of their guilty pleas to the same crime for which the appellants stood trial. In the present case, the only mention of Fairley's guilty plea was during opening statements. Out of an abundance of caution and after objection by defense counsel, the trial court instructed the parties to not extract testimony of Fairley's guilty plea during his examination. As such, there was actually no <u>evidence</u> of Fairley's plea placed before the jury. Therefore, if it was harmless error for the State to first put forth such evidence in *Clemons* and *White*, then certainly the State's brief mention of a guilty plea in its opening statement cannot be reversible error.

The bottom line is that the State did not attempt to use evidence of Fairley's guilty plea as evidence of Foxworth's guilt of capital murder. Instead, the State merely sought to soften the blow of Fairley's impeachment upon cross-examination regarding his involvement in the armed robbery. Accordingly, Foxworth's first assignment of error must fail. **II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING FOXWORTH'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE.**

Foxworth argues that he should have been granted a continuance because he was given for the first time on the morning of trial certain photographs, audio recordings, and the autopsy report. What Foxworth fails to mention in his appellate brief is that the photographs he received on the day of trial were merely colored photographs of the black and white photographs he had already been provided in discovery. T. 60-61. Any new photographs that were provided on the morning of trial were merely more photographs of the crime scene. T. 61. Further, although the trial court denied the motion for continuance, the trial court did exclude any new photographs which the State provided on the morning of trial. T. 63-64. Also, while Foxworth may have been given audiotapes of witness's statements on the morning of trial, defense counsel freely admitted that he had previously been provided through discovery the transcripts of those audiotapes. T. 61-62. No mention was made in the record of defense counsel having received the autopsy report on the first day of trial.

The trial court's decision to deny a motion for continuance will not be the basis for reversible error unless it can be shown that the ruling resulted in a "manifest injustice." *Shelton v. State*, 853 So.2d 1171, 1181 (¶35) (Miss. 2003). "Before there will be manifest injustice in the denial of a continuance, an accused must have suffered unfair surprise or prejudice." *Hudderson v. State*, 941 So.2d 221, 223 (¶6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Foxworth never claimed unfair surprise or prejudice, and he fails to even articulate in his appellate brief how he was prejudiced by the denial of a continuance.

As to the photographs, any photographs which were provided for the first time on the morning of trial were excluded. As to the audio tapes, defense counsel was fully aware of the substance of the tapes since he had been provided the transcripts of the audio tapes long before trial.

11

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